
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA  

FLORENCE DIVISION 
 
W. BRITT GRIFFIN III and 
SUSAN GRIFFIN 
 
       Hon.  
        

Plaintiff,     Case No.  
 

       INDIVIDUAL ACTION AND  
     SEPARATE CLASS ACTION   
     UNDER 15 USC 1692g 

v.        
 
KING CUNNINGHAM, LLC 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 
  
COMPLAINT AND CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
COMES NOW the Plaintiffs W. BRITT GRIFFIN III and SUSAN GRIFFIN (hereinafter 

“Plaintiff” or “Griffin”) and by way of this Complaint by and through DC Capital, Law, LLP filing 

against the Defendant KING CUNNINGHAM, LLC. (“Defendant” or “King”) and say:  

I.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. The Plaintiff alleges that Defendants’ collection practices violate the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692, et seq. (“FDCPA”).  

2. In violation of the FDCPA, Defendant KING threatened and pursued Plaintiffs by 

placing a Default Lien for a false debt amount on the public file of Plaintiff and further 

foreclosed on an in personam timeshare property interest through an in rem proceeding in Horry 

County, State of South Carolina in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692g(a) and 15 U.S.C. §§ 
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 1692g(b) of the FDCPA such that Plaintiffs and Plaintiff class members lose part of the 

mandatory 30 days to seek validation on a dispute debt. Please see Exhibit 4.  

3. Such violative collection practices include, inter alia, sending Plaintiff written 

communications that: 

(a) make false, deceptive, and misleading representations that Defendants are 

allowed and permitted by law to place a lien against the name of the Plaintiff 

as threatened by Defendant King in Exhibit 4 without properly validating 

the disputed debt under the FDCPA; and 

(b) collecting and attempting to increased costs and legal fees on a debt and 

foreclosure that is not legally or contractually possible against the Plaintiff 

in the form of Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 4 and then doing so in Exhibit 9;  

(c) Threatening Plaintiff’s credit history and public reputation if the illegal or 

unsubstantiated lien amounts are filed with a public record or the 

foreclosure takes place in violation of South Carolina’s Timeshare Statute 

at Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 9; 

(d) Contact public records with false debt amounts and exposing false and 

private debt information to the public and third parties in violation of 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1692c(b). 

4. The FDCPA regulates the behavior of collection agencies attempting to collect a 

debt on behalf of another. The United States Congress has found abundant evidence of the use of 

abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by many debt collectors, and has 

determined that abusive debt collection practices contribute to a number of personal bankruptcies, 

marital instability, loss of jobs, and invasions of individual privacy. Congress enacted the FDCPA 
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 to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to ensure that those debt collectors 

who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not competitively disadvantaged, and 

to promote uniform State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses. 15 U.S.C. § 

1692(a) - (e).  

5. The FDCPA is a strict liability statute, which provides for actual or statutory 

damages upon the showing of one violation. Courts use the “least sophisticated consumer” 

standard, an objective test, when assessing whether particular conduct violates the FDCPA. "A 

debt collector's failure to provide the information required by § 1692g is actionable as a violation 

of § 1692e `if the variance is one that would tend to mislead the least sophisticated 

consumer.'" Leonard, 2017 WL 4979160, at *4 (quoting Caceres v. McCalla Raymer, LLC, 755 

F.3d 1299, 1304 (11th Cir. 2014)). 

6. Allegations of FDCPA violations are evaluated using the “least sophisticated 

consumer” perspective, which assumes the consumer “posses[es] a rudimentary amount of 

information about the world and a willingness to read a collection notice with some care.” 

Leonard, 2017 WL 4979160 at *2 (alteration in original) (quoting LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR 

Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1193-94 (11th Cir. 2010) and Jeter v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 760 F.2d 

1168, 1175 (11th Cir. 1985)).  

7. Whether a communication is false, misleading, or deceptive in violation of § 

1692e is determined from the vantage of the “least sophisticated consumer.” United States v. 

Nat'l Fin. Servs., Inc ., 98 F.3d 131, 136 (4th Cir.1996).  Using this standard, the FDCPA 

protects “naïve consumers” while at the same time “prevent[ing] liability for bizarre or 

idiosyncratic interpretations of collections notices by preserving a quotient of reasonableness.” 

Id. (quoting LeBlanc, 601 F.3d at 1194. 
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 8. Congress enacted the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) to 

eliminate "abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices." 15 U.S.C. § 1692(a). 

"When interpreting the FDCPA, we begin with the language of the statute itself." Schroyer 

v. Frankel, 197 F.3d 1 170, 1174 (6th Cir. 1999). Foti v. NCO Financial Systems, Inc. 424 

F.Supp.2d 643 S.D.N.Y.2006. 

9. In order to comply with§ 1692g(a), a debt collector "must ' effectively convey' 

the notice to the debtor." Smith v. Computer Credit, Inc., 167 F.3d l 052, 1054 (6th Cir. 

1999). Section 1692g requires the validation notice to state that the debtor may dispute 

the debt "within thirty days after receipt of the notice" (emphasis added). 

10.  Defendant King’s Notice at Exhibit 4 do not effectively convey the proper 

notice to South Carolina Timeshare owners and consumers facing foreclosure. On the 

contrary, it is crafted to eviscerate the consumer's right to dispute the debt by shortening 

the required 30 days and speeding up the time the debt collector can "assume this debt to 

be valid." 

11. To prohibit deceptive practices, the FDCPA, at 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, outlaws the use 

of false, deceptive, and misleading collection letters and names a non-exhaustive list of certain per 

se violations of false and deceptive collection conduct. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e (1)-(16). Among these 

per se violations prohibited by that section are: false representations concerning the character, 

amount, or legal status of any debt, 15 U.S.C. §1692e(2)(A); and the use of any false representation 

or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a 

consumer, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e (10).   
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 12. Jacobson v. Healthcare Financial Services, Inc., 516 F.3d 85, 93 (2d Cir. 

2008) specifically requires the validation notice to state that the debtor may dispute the debt 

"within thirty days after receipt of the notice" (emphasis added by the Jacobson court here).  

13. Chauncey v. JDR Recovery Corp.,118 F.3d 516, 519 (7th Cir.1997) held "if 

we were to hold that the validation request must be received by the thirtieth day, we would 

be rewriting Section 1692g, which we are not entitled to do."  

14. To prohibit unconscionable and unfair practices, the FDCPA at 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, 

outlaws the use of unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt and 

names a non-exhaustive list of certain per se violations of unconscionable and unfair collection 

conduct. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692f (1)-(8). Included among the per se violations prohibited in this section 

are the collection of any amount (including any interest, fee, charge, or expense incidental to the 

principal obligation) unless such amount is expressly permitted by law, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f (1). 

15. All foreclosure is debt collection. “In fact, every mortgage foreclosure, judicial or 

otherwise, is undertaken for the very purpose of obtaining payment on the underlying debt, either 

by persuasion (i.e, forcing a settlement) or compulsion (i.e., obtaining a judgment of foreclosure, 

selling the home at auction, and applying the proceeds from the sale to pay down the outstanding 

debt).” Glazer v. Chase Home Finance LLC, 704 F. 3d 453. See Goodrow v. Friedman & 

MacFadyen, P.A., 788 F. Supp. 2d 464, 471 (E.D.Va. 2011) (“[A] debt collector must comply with 

the FDCPA while complying with a state foreclosure law.”); Romea v. Heiberger & Assocs., 163 

F.3d 111, 118 (2d Cir. 1998). 

16. “Communicate” under the FDCPA means the conveying of information regarding 

a debt directly or indirectly to a person through any medium. King is communicating the demand 

for payment of a debt through its letters at Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 9 and through the public 
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 records showcasing liens and foreclosures. 

17. Among the per se violations prohibited by the FDCPA is 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b): 

(b) COMMUNICATION WITH THIRD PARTIES.  Except as provided in section 804, 
without the prior consent of the consumer given directly to the debt collector, or the 
express permission of a court of competent jurisdiction, or as reasonably necessary to 
effectuate a post judgment judicial remedy, a debt collector may not communicate, in 
connection with the collection of any debt, with any person other than a consumer, his 
attorney, a consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted by law, the creditor, the 
attorney of the creditor, or the attorney of the debt collector. 

18. Among the per se violations prohibited by the FDCPA is 15 U.S.C. § 1692f (6): 

(6) Taking or threatening to take any nonjudicial action to effect dispossession or 
disablement of property if— 
(A) there is no present right to possession of the property claimed as collateral 
through an enforceable security interest; 
(B) there is no present intention to take possession of the property; or 
(C) the property is exempt by law from such dispossession or disablement. 
 

19. Further, under mandates of the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), with “Right to 

Use” or “Fixed or Floating Time” purchases of timeshare condominiums, “The interest you own 

is legally considered personal property.  Federal Trade Commission, Consumer Information, 

Timeshares and Vacation Plans, https://www.consumer.ftc.gov/articles/0073-timeshares-and-

vacation-plans. Please see Exhibit 3.  

20. Defendant KING has threatened Plaintiff with foreclosing on an in personam 

interest through an in rem proceeding in Horry county in violation of the FDCPA.  Please see 

Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 9.  

21. At all times relevant to this complaint, KING is a debt collector under the FDCPA 

and collecting on timeshare debt and is incorporated in the State of South Carolina with a 

Resident Agent named Jeffrey King at 1000 2nd Avenue South, Suite 320, North Myrtle Beach, 

South Carolina, 29582.    
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 22. Plaintiff is a resident of the City of Georgia with the subject property that is the 

focus of the debt collection at 2200 North Ocean Blvd., Myrtle Beach in Horry County, State of 

South Carolina. Please see Exhibit 4.   

II. JURISDICTION & VENUE 

23. Jurisdiction arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k (d) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337.  

24. Supplemental jurisdiction for Plaintiff’s state law claims arise under 28 U.S.C. § 

1367. The factual basis of the FCCPA form part of the same case or controversy under Article III 

of the United States Constitution.  28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

25. Declaratory relief is available pursuant to under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201, 2202. 

26. Venue is appropriate in this federal district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) because 

a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred within this federal judicial 

district at the time this action is commenced. 

III. FACTS CONCERNING PLAINTIFF 

27. On or about June 30, 2014, Plaintiff allegedly incurred a financial obligation on the 

purchase of a timeshare condominium involving the Ocean 22 Development, LLC (“Ocean 22”). 

Please see Exhibit 1.  The Agreement at Exhibit 1 and Section 26 stated that (a) The South 

Carolina licensed attorney under whose supervision the form of the transaction documents were 

reviewed and prepared on behalf of seller is: Jeffrey W. King, Esq. King Cunningham, LLC 1000 

2nd Avenue South, Suite 325, North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina…”  

28. Further, the Agreement at Exhibit 1 stated at Section 18 that this timeshare interest 

was based upon a Floating Vacation Ownership: 
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 29. Plaintiff received a FLOAT/FLOAT USE RIGHT INCLUDING EVENT TIME 

VACATION OWNERSHIP INTEREST (DEED). transferring “property” from Ocen 22 to Plaintiff 

in Horry County, South Carolina.  The Float Use Deed was also created by Defendant King and 

stated: 

 

 Please see Exhibit 2.  

30. The agreement specifically stated that “Purchaser acknowledges that 

notwithstanding any provision of this Contract or this Deed (“Deed”) pursuant to which title to the 

Timeshare Interest described herein will be conveyed to the Purchaser, Purchaser will not have the 

exclusive right to reserve, use, and occupy the herein designated Suite.” (emphasis on “not” added 

by King). Please see Exhibit 1.   

31. Therefore, any possible property uses, or ownership stated in the Deed at Exhibit 
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 2 had been nullified and made void by the Mortgage/Purchasing agreement through section 18 at 

Exhibit 1.  

32. Indeed, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) differentiates between Deeded 

Timeshare Ownership and a “Right to Use” or “Float Use” Vacation Interval Option: 

Deeded Timeshare Ownership. In a timeshare, you either own your vacation unit for the 

rest of your life, for the number of years spelled out in your purchase contract, or until you 

sell it. Your interest is legally considered real property. You buy the right to use a specific 

unit at a specific time every year, and you may rent, sell, exchange, or bequeath your 

specific timeshare unit. You and the other timeshare owners collectively own the resort 

property. 

“Right to Use” Vacation Interval Option. In this option, a developer owns the resort, 

which is made up of condominiums or units. Each condo or unit is divided into “intervals” 

— either by weeks or the equivalent in points. You purchase the right to use an interval at 

the resort for a specific number of years — typically between 10 and 50 years. The interest 

you own is legally considered personal property. The specific unit you use at the resort 

may not be the same each year. In addition to the price for the right to use an interval, you 

pay an annual maintenance fee that is likely to increase each year. 

Within the “right to use” option, several plans can affect your ability to use a unit: 

• Fixed or Floating Time. In a fixed time option, you buy the unit for use during a specific 

week of the year. In a floating time option, you use the unit within a certain season of the 

year, reserving the time you want in advance; confirmation typically is provided on a first-

come, first-served basis. (emphasis added) Please see Exhibit 3.  

33. The Float Use deed at Exhibit 2 is a Floating interest (“Floating Use Plan).  

Pursuant to the FTC regulations and the Declaration, Plaintiff’s Floating Use Plan interest is 
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 “legally considered personal property.” Please see Exhibit 3. 

34. Pursuant to South Carolina Timeshare law, non-judicial foreclosures can be pursed 

through an in rem proceeding with a notice of default and an intent to sell and then foreclosure 

allowed before a judgment or decision is entered.  Here as the FTC and the Float Use Deed that 

Defendant King created states at Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3, Plaintiff’s property is personal and can 

only be “taken” from them in personam and that would require a judgement be entered judicially.  

35. The obligation on the Mortgage Contract fell into default and on August 7, 2018 

the Defendant KING wrote a TRUSTEE’S NOTICE OF DEFAULT AND INTENT TO SELL to 

Plaintiffs threatening the sale of the “property.” The Notice stated that, “You are in DEFAULT of 

payment for your mortgage recorded on 9/4/2014 in Mortgage Book 5617 at Page 1186. The 

amount due to satisfy the Mortgage, attorney costs and all fees is stated above. Please see Exhibit 

4.  That amount requested at Exhibit 4 was $13,543.88. 

36. Pursuant to the South Carolina Timeshare Statute, Defendant KING further 

threated that “IF YOU FAIL TO CURE THE DEFAULT OR OTHER APPROPRIATE 

ACTION WITH REGARD TO THE MATTER WITHIN THIRTY CALENDER DAYS 

AFTER THE DATE OF THIS NOTICE, YOU WILL RISK LOSING YOUR INTEREST 

IN THIS TIMESHARE ESTATE THROUGH A NONJUDICIAL FORCLOSURE 

PROCEDURE. Please see Exhibit 4.  

37. Under the mandates of the FDCPA, Defendant King’s Notice of Default at Exhibit 

4 notified the Griffins that: 

“The debt described in the letter attached hereto will be assumed valid by the Creditor’s 

law firm unless you, the debtor, within thirty (30) days after the receipt of this notice, 

dispute, in writing, the validity of the debt or some portion thereof.” 
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 38. The FDCPA Notice from King further stated: 

 

Please see Exhibit 4.  

39. The FDCPA Notice in King’s letter was titled,  

“NOTICE AS REQUIRED BY THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

(THE ACT) 15 U.S.C. SECTION 1692 AS AMENDED” 

40. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g provides: 
 

§ 1692g. Validation of debts 
 

(a) Notice of debt; contents. Within five days after the initial communication 
with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, 
unless the following information is contained in the initial communication or the 
consumer has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing-- 
(1) the amount of the debt; 
(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed; 
(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, 
disputes the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be 
valid by the debt collector; 
(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within the 
thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt collector 
will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the consumer and a 
copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer by the debt 
collector; and 

4:18-cv-02933-RBH     Date Filed 10/29/18    Entry Number 1     Page 11 of 24



 

 -12- 

 (5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the thirty-day period, 
the debt collector will provide the consumer with the name and address of the original 
creditor, if different from the current creditor. 
 

(b) DISPUTED DEBTS 
 
If the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within the thirty-day period 
described in subsection (a) that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, or that the 
consumer requests the name and address of the original creditor, the debt collector shall 
cease collection of the debt, or any disputed portion thereof, until the debt collector 
obtains verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment, or the name and address of the 
original creditor, and a copy of such verification or judgment, or name and address of the 
original creditor, is mailed to the consumer by the debt collector.  
 

41. The validation notice may not be either "overshadowed" or contradicted by other 

language or material in the original or subsequent collection letters sent within 30 days after 

receipt of the first one. Swanson v. Southern Oregon Credit Service, Inc., supra, 869 F.2d 1222 

(9th Cir. 1988); Harris v. Payco General American Credits, Inc., 98 C 4245, 1998 U.S.Dist. 

LEXIS 20153 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 9, 1998)."A notice is overshadowing or contradictory if it would 

make the least sophisticated consumer uncertain as to her rights." Russell v. Equifax A.R.S., 74, 

F.3d 30 (2d Cir. 1996). 

42. Numerous courts have recognized that the FDCPA’s purpose - to eliminate 

abusive debt collection practices - would be undermined if subsequent debt collectors were 

excused from complying with the requirements contained in section 1692g.  Wright v. Ocwen 

Loan Servicing, LLC, 12-14762, 2013 WL 5532687, at 4-5 (E.D.Mich. Oct.7, 2013), See, also 

Lewis v. Nationstar Mortgage, F.Supp.2d —, 13-11693, 2014 WL 1089557, at 7-10 (E.D.Mich. 

March 18, 2014). 

43. Subsection (a)(4) states that if the debtor disputes the debt in writing within thirty 

days, the debt collector must obtain verification of the debt and must send the debtor a copy of 

the verification. Subsection (a)(5) states that, if the debtor makes a written request, the debt 
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 collector must provide the name and address of the original creditor. Subsection (b) states that if 

the debtor disputes the debt in writing within thirty days, the debt collector must cease collection 

efforts until the debt collector has verified the debt. Graziano v. Harrison, 950 F. 2d 107 - Court 

of Appeals, 3rd Circuit 1991. 

44.  The FDCPA’s bona fide error defense at 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(c) does not apply to a 

violation of the FDCPA resulting from a debt collectors’ incorrect interpretation of a legal 

requirement of the FDCPA.  Jerman v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rini, Kramer & Ulrich LPA, 130 

S.Ct. 1605, 1611-12 (2010). "[W]here Congress includes particular language in one section of a 

statute but omits it in another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress acts 

intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclusion or exclusion." Russello v. United States, 

464 U.S. 16, 23, 104 S. Ct. 296, 78 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1983). 

45. There is no section of the FDCPA in 15 USC 1692g that mandates that a debt 

collector advise the debtor that “7. This notice should not be construed as a thirty (30) day 

grace period. Creditor may pursue collection efforts immediately and not wait thirty (30) 

days.” 

46. The South Carolina Timeshare Foreclosure Statute at Section 27-32-325 

Conditions for exercise of power of sale by trustee requires the following condition occur prior 

to sale: 

(5) the trustee has sent written notice of default and intent to sell the timeshare estate to the obligor's 

and junior interest holder's notice addresses as required by Section 27-32-330 with the following 

statement in conspicuous type: 

"If you fail to cure the default or take other appropriate action with regard to this matter within 

thirty calendar days after the date of this notice, you will risk losing your interest in this timeshare 
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 estate through a nonjudicial foreclosure procedure…”  

47. At Exhibit 4, Defendant KING is giving the Plaintiffs the State Timeshare 

Foreclosure Notice required from Section 27-32-325(5), “THIRTY CALENDAR DAYS AFTER 

THE DATE OF THIS NOTICE” to cure the Default at the beginning of the Notice to Plaintiffs.  

48. But in the FDCPA Notice at the end of the Notice To Cure Default at section 3, 

section 4 and section 5 at Exhibit 4 of the mandatory notice, the Plaintiffs are notified that they 

have “thirty (30) days from the receipt of the notice” to dispute the debt or seek validation or 

verification of the debt at Exhibit 4.  

49. Defendant KING’s notice and South Carolina Timeshare Statute overshadows and 

violates the Mandatory Federal Notice under 15 USC 1692g in that the Plaintiffs lose their federal 

right to dispute or seek validation of the debt within the full thirty days of receipt of the Mandatory 

Federal Notice from Defendant King at Exhibit 4.  

50. The amount of days lost by the Plaintiffs is the difference between the State Notice 

of “THIRTY CALENDER DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE NOTICE” and the time that a 

consumer like the Plaintiffs receives the certified, return receipt requested Notice days later after 

the Notice is mailed.  This could be anywhere from 1-4 days depending on the speed of the mail 

service and effects all owners of timeshares facing foreclosure.  

51. Plaintiffs attempted to dispute and seek validation of the debt on August 19, 2018. 

Please Exhibit 5.  Plaintiffs sought proof of why they owed $13,543.88 and the make up and 

details of the amount including the “attorney fees and all fees” Defendant King was seeking in its 

letter of Exhibit 4 that notified Plaintiffs they owed $13,543.88 and that Plaintiffs had a right to 

dispute and validate the debt.   

52. 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a)(4) requires that the debt collector provide proof of the amount 
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 of the debt. 

53. On August 31, 2018, Defendant King mailed a validation response that showed 

only a “Loan History Statement” provided by Hilton Grand Vacations. Please see Exhibit 6.  The 

amount that Defendant King showed Plaintiffs that they owed after Plaintiffs sought verification 

and validation of the disputed amount of $13,543.88 was stated in the response at the end of the 

Loan History Statement. The response and history did not show the same amount as the letter in 

Exhibit 4 had requested or any attorney costs or fees stated as owed: 

 

54. Plaintiffs sent a follow up letter to Defendant King asking for proper validation and 

pointing out to the Defendant King that the amount sought in the Notice at Exhibit 4 did not match 

the response to Plaintiff’s validation request at Exhibit 6 and asked for the right validation 
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 response and accompanying documents required to legally respond to the request and continue 

collection efforts under 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(b).  Please see Exhibit 7 letter to Defendant King 

seeking re-new validation and verification of the disputed debt.  

55. Ignoring the mandates of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(b) that a debt collector “shall cease 

collection of the debt, or any disputed portion thereof, until the collector obtains verification of the 

debt or a copy of a judgment, or the name and address of the original creditor, and a copy of such 

verification or judgment, or name and address of the original creditor, is mailed to the consumer 

by the debt collector,”  Defendant King responded on September 26, 2018 by sending a Notice of 

Foreclosure and Trustee’s Notice of Sale date of 10/30/2018. Please see Exhibit 8. 

56. Though it was only 26 days from when Defendant King sent the failed validation 

response that did not explain why the Plaintiffs owed $13,543.88 at Exhibit 6, now Defendant 

King was seeking $14,853.23 with more fees and costs: 

Please see Exhibit 8. 

57. Defendant King is continuing to collect a debt in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(b) 

and the Plaintiff faces a Notice of Foreclosure in the public record for a false debt amount that 

Defendant King refuses to validate or verify in violation of Federal law.  

58. KING is not a “creditor” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a (4). 

59. KING is not a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a (6) and by its own 

admissions and notice at Exhibit 4. 
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 60. The Letters and Notices from KING are a “communication” as defined by the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a (2). The Obligation arose out of a transaction in which the money, 

property, insurance, or services are the subject of the transaction that are primarily for personal, 

family, or household purposes. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a (5). 

61. Defendant is exposing the Plaintiffs’ private financial information and false debt 

amounts owed including a public record of foreclosure that should not occur, all to third-parties 

and the public in general in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692c(b). 

62. Plaintiff has suffered an injury in fact and still faces or have been subject to 

damage to their financial and public reputation, recording costs and increased attorney fees if 

they don’t pay as directed by Exhibit 4 Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 8 and did suffer such injuries 

stated here and in Paragraph 1 through Paragraph 61 as stated above because to the illegal notice 

of foreclosure sale and false debt amounts owed in Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 8.   

IV. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

 
 

63. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

64. Defendant violated the FDCPA. Defendant’s violation, with respect to their written 

communications in the form attached as Exhibit 4, Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 8 include, but are not 

limited to, the following: 

a. Using false, deceptive, and misleading representations or means in connection with 

the collection of any debt in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e; and 

b. Making false, deceptive, and misleading representations concerning the character, 

amount, or legal status of any debt in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692e(2)(A) in 
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 Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 8; and  

c. Making false, deceptive, and misleading representations concerning any services 

rendered or compensation which may be lawfully received by any debt collector 

for the collection of a debt in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692e(2)(B); and 

d. Using false representations and/or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect 

any debt or to obtain information concerning a consumer in violation of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e (10); and 

e. Using an unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt 

in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692f (1) by an illegal non-judicial foreclosure; and 

f. Threatening to record false debts and private information to third parties and the 

public in general in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692c(b) through Exhibit 4 and 

Exhibit 8; and  

g. Threatening and pursuing foreclosure on property for extra costs and fees that is 

impossible to foreclose permitted by law in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692f (6); 

and 

h. Continuing to collection on a false, unauthorized or verified and disputed debt and 

failing to comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) and 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(b) at Exhibit 

4 and Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 8; and 

i. Not providing the required 30 days to validate and verify the debt as required by 15 

U.S.C. § 1692g(a) from receipt of the notice. 

V. CLASS ALLEGATIONS UNDER 1692g AS THEY RELATE TO THE 

SOUTH CAROLINA TIMESHARE FORECLOSURE STATUTE 
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 65. Plaintiff realleges and all facts, pleadings and exhibits in the aforementioned 

above allegations. 

66. With respect to the Plaintiff FDCPA Class, this claim is brought on behalf of a 

class of (a) all persons with timeshare property in this District under the rules of the State of 

South Carolina (b) to whom Defendant sent a written communication in the form attached as 

Exhibit 4 (c) in connection with Defendant’s attempt to collect a debt through foreclosure (d) 

which written communications violate the FDCPA (e) during a period beginning one year prior 

to the filing of this action and ending upon the service of this amended complaint. 

67. With respect to the content and make-up of the class and class members, the class 

would tentatively include and would be subject to change through litigation and discovery: 

All Timeshare Property “owners” receiving the Notice, similar Notice or letter in Exhibit 

4 that offers both 30 Calendar Days From the Date of the Notice or Letter to Cure the 

Default under South Carolina Timeshare Law and in the same Notice, similar Notice or 

letter as in Exhibit 4, provide the mandatory federal thirty day notice from the receipt of 

the letter or notice which would create a conflict between State law and Federal law in 

that the consumer loses 1-4 days of the mandatory 30 days required under Federal law 

with enforcement of the State of Carolina law.  

68. The identities of all class members are readily ascertainable from the records of 

Defendants and the Creditor they collect for in State foreclosures of Timeshares.  

69. Excluded from the Plaintiff Class are the Defendant and all officers, members, 

partners, managers, directors, and employees of the Defendant and their respective immediate 

families, and legal counsel for all parties to this action and all members of their immediate 

families. 
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 70. There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Class, which common 

issues predominate over any issues involving only individual class members.  The principal 

issues are whether the Defendant’s written communications, in the form attached as Exhibit 4, 

violates 15 U.S.C. Secs. 1692g(a)(4), 1692g(a)(5) and 15 U.S.C. Sec. 1692g(b).  

 71. The Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the class members, as all are based upon the 

same      facts and legal theories. 

72. The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Plaintiff Classes 

defined in this complaint.  The Plaintiff has retained counsel with experience in handling 

consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and numerous class actions, and neither the Plaintiff 

nor his attorneys have any interests, which might cause them not to vigorously pursue this 

action. 

73. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a class action 

pursuant to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure because there is a 

well-defined community interest in the litigation: 

Numerosity:  The Plaintiffs are informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that the 

Plaintiff Classes defined above are so numerous that joinder of all members would be 

impractical; and 

Common Questions Predominate:  Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members 

of the Plaintiff Class and those questions predominate over any questions or issues involving 

only individual class members.  The principal issues are whether the Defendant’s written 

communications, in the form attached as Exhibit 4, violate the FDCPA; and  
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 Typicality:  The Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the class members.  Plaintiff and 

all members of Plaintiff Class have claims arising out of the Defendant’s common uniform 

course of conduct complained of herein; and 

Adequacy:  The Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class members 

insofar as Plaintiffs have no interests that are adverse to the absent class members.  The Plaintiff 

is committed to vigorously litigating this matter.  Plaintiffs have also retained counsel 

experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions.  Neither the 

Plaintiff nor counsel has any interests which might cause them not to vigorously pursue the 

instant class action lawsuit; and 

Superiority:  A class action is superior to the other available means for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy because individual joinder of all members would be 

impracticable.  Class action treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated persons to 

prosecute their common claims in a single forum efficiently and without unnecessary duplication 

of effort and expense that individual actions would engender. 

Violation: Whether Defendant’s form letter made violated the FDCPA provisions granting 

all debtors the right to 30 days to dispute and seek verification with the 30 days starting on the 

date of the receipt of the letter. 

74. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure is appropriate because adjudications with respect to individual members create a risk 

of inconsistent or varying adjudications which could establish incompatible standards of conduct 

for Defendant King, which, on information and belief, collects debts throughout the State of 

South Carolina. 
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 75. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure is also appropriate in that the questions of law and fact common to members of the 

class predominate over any questions affecting an individual member, and a class action is 

superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

76. Depending on the outcome of further investigation and discovery, Plaintiff may, 

at the time of class certification motion, seek to certify a class only as to particular issues 

pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(4). 

VI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF ON THE INDIVIDUAL CLAIMS NOT CLASS CLAIMS 

77. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment in 

their favor as follows: 

A. For the FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: 

(i) An award of the maximum statutory damages for Plaintiff pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1692k(a)(2)(B); 

(ii) An award of actual damages for Plaintiff pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1); 

(iii) For declaratory relief, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201, 2202 adjudging Defendant’s 

validation and foreclosure, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 6 

and Exhibit 8, and which is complained of herein, violates the FDCPA; 

(iv) Damages for illegal threats to the Plaintiff’s credit report; 

(v) Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses, and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3); 

and 

(vi) For such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

B. For the CLASS CLAIM OF ACTION RELIEF: 
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 78. The wrongful conduct of Defendants alleged above invaded the rights of the 

Plaintiff and Plaintiff Class members which are protected by the FDCPA, the invasion of which 

caused injury in fact and damage to the Plaintiffs financially and harmed the Plaintiffs’ public 

reputation by placing false debt amount in the public view which could have been prevented 

had Defendant King not violated 15 U.S.C. Secs. 1692g(a)(4), 1692g(a)(5) and 15 U.S.C. Sec. 

1692g(b). Please see the aforementioned allegations under paragraph 1 through paragraph 77. 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs seeks judgment against Defendant King for:  
 
a. Statutory and Actual damages for Plaintiff in the amount of $1,000.00 pursuant to 

15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(2)(A) and (B);  

b. Statutory damages for the members of the FDCPA Class, pro rata, in the amount 

of the lesser of $500,000.00 or one percent centum of the net worth of Defendants pursuant 

to 15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(2)(B);  

c. Costs and reasonable attorney’s fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(3); and 

d.      Such further relief as the court deems just and proper including a Ruling that the Federal 

Rules codified under 15 U.S.C. Secs. 1692g(a)(4), 1692g(a)(5) and 15 U.S.C. Sec. 1692g(b) 

require the Defendant change its Foreclosure Notices and Letters to avoid the overshadowing of 

the mandatory federal notice with the State Statute on South Carolina Timeshare Foreclosure 

Notice and provide consumers 30 days to validate the disputed debts from the date of the receipt 

of the Mandatory Notice.  

VII. JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands that this case be tried before a Jury. 

Respectfully submitted this 29th day of October 2018.  

       /s/ Richard F. Tallini_____ 
       Richard F. Tallini (Bar No. 6481) 
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 DC Capital Law, LLP 
       700 12th Street NW #700 
       Washington, D.C. 20005 
       rtallini@dccapitallaw.com 

Attorney for Plaintiff Griffins 
 

       /s/ Brian P. Parker 
       Brian P. Parker (Bar No. 0980668) 
       Pro Hac Vice Pending 

DC Capital Law, LLP 
       700 12th Street NW #700 
       Washington, D.C. 20005 
       bparker@dccapitallaw.com  

Attorney for Plaintiff Griffins 
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